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WASHINGTON LEGAL FOUNDATION 
2009 Massachusetts Avenue, N.W. 

Washington, DC 20036 
202 588-0302 

 
 
 
 
 

March 16, 2007 
 

By Facsimile [301-796-9877] 
   and First-Class Mail 
 
Thomas W. Abrams, R.Ph., MBA 
Director 
Division of Drug Marketing, Advertising, and Communications 
10903 New Hampshire Ave. 
Bldg 22 Rm 1400 
Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002 
 
Re:  NDA # 21-782 
 Rozerem™ (ramelteon) Tablets  
 MACMIS ID # 14700 
 
Dear Mr. Abrams: 
 
On March 5, 2007, the Division of Drug Marketing, Advertising, and Communications 
(DDMAC) sent an untitled letter to Takeda Pharmaceuticals North America, Inc. (Takeda) 
alleging that a 10-second direct-to-consumer television advertisement for Rozerem (ramelteon) 
Tablets “misbrands” the drug “in violation of” section 502(n) of the Federal Food, Drug, and 
Cosmetic Act (FDCA), 21 U.S.C. § 352(n).  For the reasons set forth below, we request that 
DDMAC immediately withdraw the untitled letter to Takeda.  It is clear from the warning and 
untitled letters that DDMAC is issuing that DDMAC has established policies and procedures 
that, even if not expressly set forth in regulations or guidance documents, are being applied to the 
communications of regulated firms, and that DDMAC’s actions in this regard expose FDA to 
substantial legal risk.  The Washington Legal Foundation (WLF) has described the nature of the 
problem in previous letters to you dating back to June 2005, as well as in a citizen petition 
submitted to FDA in 2006.  We urge DDMAC to initiate a comprehensive review of its policies 
and procedures to assure that they comply with the First Amendment and do not exceed FDA’s 
authority under the FDCA.1 
   

                                                 
1 In previous correspondence with you, we have listed all of the previous letters in which we explained our 
objections to DDMAC’s efforts to regulate the content of prescription drug communications.  For the sake of 
brevity, we are discontinuing that practice.  All of the concerns WLF is raising in this letter to you have been raised 
before. 
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Unsubstantiated Allegation of Suggested Indication 
 
DDMAC alleges that the statements and images in the advertisement “suggest that Rozerem is 
indicated for and can be safely used in children.”  DDMAC bases this allegation on various 
school-related statements and images appearing in the advertisement.  DDMAC’s allegation is 
problematic. 
 
As DDMAC recognizes, to qualify for the “reminder advertisement” exemption, an 
advertisement must “not include indications or dosage recommendations for use of the drug 
product.”  21 C.F.R. § 202.1(e)(2)(i).  As DDMAC recognizes, Takeda’s advertisement never 
states that Rozerem is indicated in a pediatric population and does not contain a dosing 
recommendation.  A plausible alternative interpretation of the advertisement is as a reminder to 
adults to prepare their children for the impending beginning of a new school year.  Yet DDMAC 
presents no data to demonstrate that a reasonable consumer would interpret the advertisement as 
a pediatric use claim or a dosage recommendation for Rozerem.  The only apparent basis for 
DDMAC’s interpretation is the judgment of the DDMAC personnel involved in preparing and 
reviewing the untitled letter. 
 
DDMAC’s position is therefore in conflict with the First Amendment.  The Administrative 
Procedure Act (APA) provides for invalidation of agency action that is “contrary to 
constitutional right.”  5 U.S.C. § 706.  It is beyond dispute that the advertisement qualifies as 
protected speech.  Washington Legal Found. v. Friedman, 13 F. Supp. 2d 51, 62 (D.D.C. 1998) 
(citing Keyishian v. Board of Regents, 385 U.S. 589, 603 (1967), and Board of Trustees of 
Leland Stanford Junior University v. Sullivan, 773 F. Supp. 472, 474 (D.D.C. 1991)), appeal 
dism’d, 202 F.3d 331 (D.C. Cir. 2000).  At minimum, the advertisement is entitled to the 
intermediate level of protection accorded truthful, non-misleading commercial speech about a 
lawful activity.  Central Hudson Gas & Elec. Corp. v. Public Serv. Comm’n, 447 U.S. 557, 561-
66 (1980).  Even under that intermediate standard, DDMAC must justify any content restrictions 
it seeks to impose.   

To fulfill its constitutional obligation, DDMAC must do more than simply make a declaration 
about the message contained in the advertisement.  Edenfield v. Fane, 507 U.S. 761, 770-71 
(1993) (“It is well established that the party seeking to uphold a restriction on commercial speech 
carries the burden of justifying it.  This burden is not satisfied by mere speculation or conjecture; 
rather, a governmental body seeking to sustain a restriction on commercial speech must 
demonstrate that the harms it recites are real and that its restriction will in fact alleviate them to a 
material degree.”) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).  Because that is all that 
DDMAC has seen fit to do, the untitled letter cannot be reconciled with the First Amendment.2 

DDMAC’s action presents another important APA issue: FDA has nowhere provided guidance 
regarding the criteria to be used in evaluating whether a particular communication “include[s] 
indications or dosage recommendations for use of the drug product” within the meaning of 21 
C.F.R. § 202.1(e)(2)(i).   The lack of an officially articulated basis for DDMAC’s position upon 

                                                 
2 The untitled letter is also problematic because it fails to demonstrate—or even allege—that anyone was misled in 
any way by the advertisement.  This approach is incompatible with the First Amendment.  See Virginia State Bd. v. 
Virginia Citizens Consumer Council, 425 U.S. 748, 769, 773 (1976). 
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which regulated firms could rely for guidance is inconsistent with the APA, which provides for 
judicial invalidation of agency action that is “in excess of statutory jurisdiction,” arbitrary, or 
capricious.  5 U.S.C. § 706; see also Pearson v. Shalala, 164 F.3d 650, 660 (D.C. Cir.), reh’g 
denied, 172 F.3d 72 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (“To refuse to define the criteria [FDA] . . . is applying is 
equivalent to simply saying no without explanation.”). 
 
Conclusion and Requested Action 
 
For the reasons discussed above, we request that DDMAC immediately withdraw the untitled 
letter to Takeda and cease issuing warning and untitled letters and advisory correspondence that 
contain allegations the same as or similar to those described above.  We request that you review, 
in a systematic fashion, all of your policies and procedures to ensure that they provide sufficient 
room for sponsors to disseminate, and health care practitioners and patents to receive, truthful 
and non-misleading information about prescription drugs.  We request, further, that you respond 
to the numerous legal and policy issues we have raised in our correspondence with you since 
2005. 
 
The deficiencies described in this letter do not necessarily constitute an exhaustive list.  It is 
DDMAC’s responsibility to ensure that its actions comply with the First Amendment, and do not 
exceed FDA’s statutory authority. 
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
Richard A. Samp 
Chief Counsel 

 
cc: Sheldon Bradshaw (GCF-1) 

 
 


